
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

September 14, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1 
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612 
 

AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways.  
 
OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP 
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland 
KTOP – Channel 10 
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below: 
When: Sep 14, 2023 06:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82178017868  
Or One tap mobile : +16694449171,,82178017868# US, +16699009128, 
82178017868# US (San Jose) 
Or Telephone: Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current 
location): +1 669 444 9171 US, +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 253 205 0468 
US, +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1 719 359 
4580 US, +1 689 278 1000 US, +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC),  +1 305 
224 1968 US,  +1 309 205 3325 US, +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 209 
5623 US, +1 386 347 5053 US, +1 507 473 4847 US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 
646 558 8656 US (New York), +1 646 931 3860 US 
Webinar ID: 821 7801 7868 
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kisNmoE5P 
 
The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.   
  
PARTICIPATION/COMMENT: 
There is one way to submit public comments: 
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person. 
Comments on all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the 
beginning of the meeting. Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken 
during open forum towards the end of the meeting.  
 
 
If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

 
 

000001



2  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
2. ROLL CALL 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments 
for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum. 

4. CONSENT ITEMS 
a. Approval of Board Minutes, 8/24/2023 (pp. 3-10) 

5. APPEALS* 
a. T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. Mead Holding LLC (pp. 11-116) 

6. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
7. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 
8. OPEN FORUM 
9.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
*Staff	appeal	summaries	will	be	available	on	the	Rent	Adjustment	Program’s	website	and	the	City	
Clerk’s	office	at	least	48	hours	prior	to	the	meeting	pursuant	to	O.M.C.	2.20.070.B	and	2.20.090	
 
As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent board 
member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the consent calendar. 
 
Accessibility:  Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American Sign 
Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language interpreter at least 
five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) staff can be 
contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via phone at (510) 238-3721. California 
relay service at 711 can also be used for disability-related accommodations.  
  
Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por favor 
envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-3721 o 711 por lo 
menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.   
 
需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電
郵  RAP@oaklandca.gov 或致電 (510) 238-3721 或711 California relay service.  
 

000002



 
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

August 24, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1 

 OAKLAND, CA 94612 

MINUTES  

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

The Board meeting was administered in-person by B. Lawrence-McGowan from 
the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development 
Department. B. Lawrence-McGowan explained the procedure for conducting the 
meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order by Chair Ingram at 6:03 p.m. 
 

 2.  ROLL CALL 

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 
Vacant  Tenant    
D. WILLIAMS Tenant   X 
J. DEBOER Tenant Alt. X   
M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt. X   
D. INGRAM Undesignated X            
C. OSHINUGA  Undesignated X            
M. ESCOBAR Undesignated    X 
Vacant Undesignated 

Alt. 
   

Vacant Undesignated 
Alt. 

   

 D. TAYLOR   Landlord  X           
 K. BRODFUEHRER    Landlord X   
 C. JACKSON Landlord Alt.   X 
 Vacant Landlord Alt.        

 
Staff Present 

 Kent Qian    Deputy City Attorney 
 Marguerita Fa-Kaji   Senior  Hearing Officer (RAP) 
 Briana Lawrence-McGowan Administrative Analyst II (RAP) 
  
 

000003



 
2  

 3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. No members of the public spoke during public comment. 

 4.  CONSENT ITEMS 

a. Chair Ingram announced that agenda item 4b is being postponed until 
after the appeal case is heard. 

b. Approval of Board Minutes, 8/10/2023: Vice Chair Oshinuga moved to 
approve the Board Minutes from 8/10/2023. Member J. deBoer seconded 
the motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Goolsby, J. deBoer, K. Brodfuehrer 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The minutes were approved. 

 

5. APPEALS* 

a. L19-0013 et al., Vulcan Lofts, LLC v. Tenants 

Appearances:  Servando Sandoval  Owner Representative 
    Leah Hess   Tenant Representative 
    Hasmik Geghamyan Tenant Representative 
           
 
This case involved an appeal to tenant petitions and a property owner 
petition for a certificate of exemption. In August and October 2018, tenants 
from Vulcan Lofts filed petitions challenging rent increases and alleging 
decreased housing services. The tenants also contested the exemption on 
the basis of fraud or mistake—as a prior ruling from the Board determined 
that four units of the property were exempt from the Rent Adjustment 
Ordinance on the basis of new construction. This was appealed by one 
tenant and affirmed by the Superior Court and Court of Appeals. 
 
In November 2018, the property owner filed a petition seeking an 
exemption on the basis of new construction for units located at 4401 San 
Leandro Street. Tenants filed responses to the petition, arguing that the 
ordinance does not grant exemptions to properties where there has been 
residential use prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy—and that 
there was evidence of residential use prior to issuance of the certificate in 

000004



 
3  

1987. On April 30, 2023, the Hearing Officer issued a hearing decision, 
granting the property owner’s petition and dismissing the tenant petitions. 
The Hearing Officer found that the evidence established that the property 
was newly constructed after the purchase of the property in December 
1985—and that the property was not residential before the purchase. The 
Hearing Officer also found that the residential occupancy started after the 
purchase in 1985, and that the certificate of occupancy was finalized on 
October 20, 1987. Based on these findings, the hearing decision concluded 
that the owners had met their burden of proof to establish that the property 
received a certificate of occupancy after January 1, 1983—and therefore, 
the subject property is exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance.  
 
The tenants appealed the hearing decision, arguing that: 
 
1.) The Hearing Officer failed to address the primary legal question of 

whether any residential use prior to the issuance of the certificate of 
occupancy counts as prior residential use for the purpose of 
exemption—or if only residential use before January 1, 1983, matters 
for exemption purposes and 

2.) Because exemptions are narrowly construed, post 1983 residential use 
occurring before the issuance of the certificate of occupancy means that 
the units should not be exempt as new construction under the Rent 
Adjustment Ordinance. There is evidence in the record of residential 
use from at least June 1986—prior to the issuance of the certificate of 
occupancy in 1987 and 

3.) The prior case, Vidor v. City of Oakland, does not control here because 
the decision only applied to 4 units in the property and exemption 
decisions can be overturned upon the showing of fraud or mistake. 

 
The owner then submitted a response, contending that Oakland law does 
not expressly provide that any residential use before the issuance of the 
certificate of occupancy removes an exemption claim based on new 
construction—and that for the prior residential use standard, to preclude a 
new construction exemption, the residential use must have occurred prior 
to January 1, 1983. The owner also argued that prior cases holding that the 
Vulcan Lofts units were exempt should be given deference.  
 
The following issues were presented to the Board: 
 
1.) If a unit receives a certificate of occupancy on or after January 1, 1983, 

as a result of conversion from existing space, does the unit qualify for 
the new construction exemption, so long as the former unit was not 
used residentially prior to 1983 or prior to conversion?  

2.) Did the Hearing Officer’s decision adequately connect the finding to the 

000005



 
4  

ultimate conclusion that the property was exempt by applying a clear 
legal rule? 
 

 
The tenant representative contended that the tenants are requesting for the 
City Attorney’s recommendation to be adopted—which is based on the 
Amory v. Green Sage case and held that there's no temporal limit on 
residential use prior to conversion. The tenant representative argued that 
residential use after January 1, 1983, can be used to preclude exemption 
and that the facts of this case and the Amory v. Green Sage case parallel. 
The tenant representative contended that in both cases, tenants moved 
into the property before final permits and certificates of occupancy were 
issued. The tenant representative argued that in the Amory v. Green Sage 
case, the property was built between 2003 and 2010, and tenants began to 
move-in throughout 2009—however, the certificate of occupancy wasn’t 
issued until 2011. The tenant representative contended that the Board 
determined in the Amory v. Green Sage case that residential use before or 
after 1983 precludes exemption and that the tenants are requesting for this 
to be applied to the current case. 
 
The tenant representative argued that in December 1985, the owners 
purchased the property, attained permits, and promptly began building 59 
live-work units in three buildings—A, B, and C. The tenant representative 
contented that prior to receiving any finalized permits or certificates of 
occupancy, the owners began renting the live-work units to tenants, and 
that this practice continued for two years as construction continued. The 
tenant representative argued that this practice is unlawful under state and 
local building codes, which forbid occupancy without a certificate of 
occupancy. The tenant representative contended that these laws are not 
mere formalities, they are safeguards that protect tenants from unsafe and 
dangerous housing. The tenant representative argued that granting 
exemption when buildings lack final permit inspections rewards owners 
who engage in illegal construction practices. 
 
The tenant representative contended that the owners obtained a certificate 
of occupancy in October 1987—but at that point, there were many tenants 
in the building. The tenant representative argued that the Amory v. Green 
Sage case provides a clear and bright line that can be easily applied and 
prevents owners from benefiting from unlawful construction. The tenant 
representative argued that the hearing decision is at odds with the intent 
and purpose of the Rent Adjustment Ordinance and argued that if the 
hearing decision is upheld, it will provide a precedent for landlords who 
violate the law to obtain exemptions, strip tenants who are covered by the 
ordinance of their protections and punish the tenants for the owners’ 
wrongdoing.  

000006



 
5  

 
The tenant representative argued that there is evidence on the record of 
pre 1983 occupancy and that it states in the registrar of voters record that 
the property was occupied in 1982. The tenant representative contended 
that people began moving into the Vulcan Lofts in June of 1986, more than 
two years before the owners received the final certificates of occupancy—
and that building C never got a final certificate. The tenant representative 
argued that the owners had a series of temporary occupancy certificates 
for some of the units, but not all of them—and that newly constructed units 
include legal conversions of uninhabited spaces not used by tenants. The 
tenant representative contended that legal conversions is not a 
convergence that happens when construction is ongoing and there are no 
finalized documents—and that a legal conversion is when the building may 
be legally occupied. The tenant representative argued that the landlords 
put the tenants in a situation where they were living in a construction zone, 
that tenants of illegal buildings are still covered by the Rent Adjustment 
Ordinance, and that the tenants will lose these protections if the property is 
declared to be exempt—which it is not. 
 
The owner representative contended that the appeal hearing is being held  
to address the issue of whether the property is exempt—and that the 
owners in this case met their burden of proof to show that this was new 
construction. The owner representative argued that the property was an 
iron foundry in operation in 1985 when it was purchased, and that there 
was testimony and evidence presented at the hearing, setting forth the fact 
that the foundry continued in operation after the purchase. The owner 
representative contended that the evidence shows that when the 
construction was started, permits were obtained. The owner representative 
argued that while permits were being finalized, the owners had temporary 
certificates of occupancy that were issued—and that the final certificate of 
occupancy was issued in 1987.  
 
The owner representative argued that this case is unlike the Amory v. 
Green Sage case because in that case, the owner converted space without 
permits, then submitted an application to legalize the existing residential 
space—which did not occur in this case. The owner representative 
contended that the Board needs to uphold the hearing decision because 
this is a pure example of where landlords are incentivized to add new 
housing, which is necessary and needed in Oakland. The owner 
representative argued that the owners followed the rules and obtained 
permits and temporary certificates of occupancy—and that they ultimately 
got the finalized certificate of occupancy.  
 
The owner representative contended that the tenants are now attempting to 
go back and recreate history and that they are trying to stop the property 

000007



 
6  

from being exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance. The owner 
representative argued that the ordinance states that units are exempt as 
new construction if they are created from a space that was formerly entirely 
non-residential. The owner representative contended that the tenants 
attempted to make it look like there was evidence of pre 1983 residency—
however, there were a total of five hearings in this case and the Hearing 
Officer still decided that there was not one scintilla of evidence showing 
any prior residential use before 1983. The owner representative argued 
that there is no such evidence of residential history prior to 1983 and that 
the Board should uphold the hearing decision. 
 
The owner representative argued that in the tenants’ appeal, it states that 
the tenants do not dispute the essential facts stated in the decision—and 
the decision found that there was no residential use pre 1983 or pre-1985. 
The owner representative contended that the only evidence the tenants 
have is one voter registration from 1982, which was not credible—and the  
fact that the property was an iron foundry that was in operation in 1985 and 
continued after the purchase in 1985 is evidence in this case. The owner 
representative argued that this case is completely different than the Amory 
v. Green Sage case—and that there was no existing residential use or 
living units at this property prior to the construction to convert this into a 
residential property.  
 
 
After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, 
Chair Ingram moved to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer for a 
determination on the exemption based on the Amory v. Green Sage 
decision. For clarification, to qualify for an exemption, the property must 
have been entirely non-residential—i.e., no residential use, prior to the 
issuance of the final certificate of occupancy. The Hearing Officer is also to 
make a decision on the tenant petitions based on the merits. Member J. 
deBoer seconded the motion. Member J. deBoer withdrew his second. 
 
 
Chair Ingram moved to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer for a 
determination on the exemption based on the Amory v. Green Sage 
decision. For clarification, to qualify for an exemption, the property must 
have been entirely non-residential—i.e., no residential use, prior to the 
issuance of the certificate of occupancy. If the Hearing Officer determines 
that the property is not exempt, the Hearing Officer is to conduct a hearing 
and make a decision on the tenant petitions based on the merits. Member 
K. Brodfuehrer seconded the motion. 
 
 
 

000008



 
7  

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Goolsby, J. deBoer, K. Brodfuehrer  
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was approved. 
 
 

6. RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENT OF THE RENT 
ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO (1) EXTEND AMORTIZATION 
PERIOD FOR MANDATORY SEISMIC RETROFITS TO 25 YEARS; (2) 
REDUCE ARGUMENT TIME TO SIX (6) MINUTES PER PARTY; (3) REMOVE 
APPEARANCE REQUIREMENT FOR APPELLANT AT APPEAL HEARINGS; 
(4) ALLOW NON-VOTING ALTERNATES TO PARTICIPATE IN BOARD 
MEETINGS IN NON-VOTING CAPACITY; (5) ADD GOOD CAUSE HEARINGS 
FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT HEARINGS; (6) CHANGE MEETING TIME TO 
6 PM; (7) CODIFY EXISTING PROCEDURAL PRACTICES IN 
REGULATIONS; AND (8) MAKE OTHER CLARIFYING AND 
REORGANIZATION CHANGES 
 

a. Chair Ingram and fellow Board members discussed the recent changes 
to the resolution to recommend amendments to Rent Adjustment 
Program Regulations. After Board discussion, Chair Ingram moved to 
adopt the resolution for forwarding to City Council. Vice Chair Oshinuga 
seconded the motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Goolsby, J. deBoer, K. Brodfuehrer  
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was approved. 

 

7. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 

a. None 

8. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. None 

000009



 
8  

9. OPEN FORUM 

a. No members of the public spoke during open forum. 

 

10. ADJOURMENT 

a. The meeting was adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 

000010



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0019   

Case Name:      Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC   

Property Address:     2031 69th Avenue, Oakland, CA 94621   

Parties:               Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC (Owner) 
      Reyes Ornelas (Tenant) 
      Maria Barragan (Tenant) 
      Gregory Ching (Tenant Representative)    
  
 
 
OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity        Date 

Tenant Petition filed      January 23, 2023  

Property Owner Response filed     February 1, 2023 

Tenant Evidence Submission     February 28, 2023 

Notice of Incomplete Owner Response mailed  February 28, 2023  

Property Owner Email Correspondences   March 3 & 8, 2023 

Administrative Decision mailed     April 6, 2023 

Property Owner Appeal filed     April 18, 2023 

000011



Tenant Brief in Support of Petition submitted  May 2, 2023  

Owner Appeal Supporting Document submitted  May 25, 2023 

000012



000013



000014



000015



000016



000017



000018



000019



000020



000021



000022



000023



000024



000025



000026



000027



000028



000029



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit Document Description                   Page Numbers 

T1 Rent Increase Notice (9/24/2022) 2-3

T2 Rent Increase Notice (12/1/2019) 4-10

T3 Rent Payment Receipts 

T4 Property Owner-Tenant Communications 

11-19

20-22

Page 1 of 22 000030



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T1 

Page 2 of 22 000031



Page 3 of 22 000032



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T2 

Page 4 of 22 000033



Page 5 of 22 000034



Page 6 of 22 000035



Page 7 of 22

000036



Page 8 of 22 000037



Page 9 of 22 000038



Page 10 of 22 000039



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T3 

Page 11 of 22 000040



Page 12 of 22 000041



Page 13 of 22 000042



Page 14 of 22

000043



Page 15 of 22

000044



Page 16 of 22 000045



Page 17 of 22 000046



Page 18 of 22 000047



Page 19 of 22 000048



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit T� 

Page 20 of 22 000049



Page 21 of 22
000050



Page 22 of 22 000051



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission (Case No. T23-0019)

22

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St., Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

000052



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000053



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

2  28 2023

Gregory Ching

February 28, 2023

000054



CITY OF OAKLAND

NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 

CASE NUMBER:  

CASE NAME:  

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 

T23-0019 

 

031 9  Avenue, Unit  Oakland, CA 9 1 

The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on e ruar  1, 2023 

To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 

a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;

b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2

c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3

d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;

e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.

f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates

1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 

000055



2 | P a g e

that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  

The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 

Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 

 X 

Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 

Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 

   

You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  

If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
lothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 

Dated:  e ruar  2 , 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000056



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Notice of Incomplete Owner Response

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on  , 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000057



From: Lothlen, Brittni
To: Ahmed Said
Bcc: Lambert, Elan
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 2:47:54 PM
Attachments: Notice of Incomplete Owner Response T23-0019 2023.02.28.pdf

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Your email correspondence has been saved to the case file and forwarded to the assigned hearing
officer.
 
Please note there are no amendments allowed to a property owners response. Additionally,

your property owner response received on February 1st, 2023 remains incomplete.
 
Please find a copy of the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response that was mailed from our
office on February 28, 2023, attached to this email.
 
Best regards,
 
 
Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 at 9:52 AM
To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Case No. T23-0019 Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

[EXTERNAL] This email originated outside of the City of Oakland. Please do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and expect the message.

Greetings, 
The following message is an addition to the response we previously submitted on January 31st. The

000058

mailto:BJackson@oaklandca.gov
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ELambert@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP



CITY OF OAKLAND


NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 


CASE NUMBER:  


CASE NAME:  


PROPERTY ADDRESS: 


T23-0019 


Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


2031 69th Avenue, Unit C Oakland, CA 94621 


The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on February 1, 2023 


To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 


a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;


b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2


c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3


d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;


e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.


f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates


1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 







2 | P a g e


that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  


The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 


Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 


 X 


Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 


Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 


   


You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  


If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
blothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 


Dated:  February 28, 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 







PROOF OF SERVICE 


Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 


Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 


California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 


California 94612.   


Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 


Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 


Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 


Documents Included 


Notice of Incomplete Owner Response


Owner 


Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607


Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621


Tenant 


Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621


I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 


correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 


receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 


Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 


business. 


I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 


and correct. Executed on February 28, 2023 in Oakland, California.


______________________________ 


Brittni Lothlen 


Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 





		Notice of Incomplete Owner Response.pdf

		1 Proof of Service_RAP1 (38).pdf









reason why the rent was $1,300 is because Reyes Ornelas and I had a verbal agreement for him to
pull out the garbage bins every Monday for all 6 units, and to keep the front and backyard clean. For
this purpose, he received discounted rent. When the service was no longer being provided as agreed
upon, we wrote to all tenants informing them to pull out their own garbage bins, and that we'd clean
around the property. Also, the tenant (Maria and Reyes) grew frustrated because we provided them
a storage room for free, and they had electricity attached (an extra refrigerator) attached to our
house meter, so we notified them through text that we were going to need that area to expand the
laundry room for all tenants, in which we did. We gave them a proper 60 day notice beforehand for
the rent increase. Additionally, they also had 7 people living in the unit which cost us more water,
but we never complained. Lastly, 10% of any upgrades to a building is supposed to be passed on to
the tenants as we put in a brand new roof, and provided them with a new balcony door. Therefore,
we increased the rent with fairness. Feel free to contact me if there are any questions
Thank you
 

000059



From: Lothlen, Brittni
To: Ahmed Said
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC
Date: Wednesday, March 8, 2023 2:17:41 PM
Attachments: Amended Notice of Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing_Zoom Link T23-0019 2023.03.07.pdf

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Answers to your questions:
 

1. Please re-submit the owner response  with the missing information.
2. An owner filing a response must submit evidence of a current business license and

payment of the RAP fee. If you do not have the documents requested, you may contact
the Business Tax Office by email at BTWebSupport@oaklandca.gov, or by phone at
(510) 238-3704, for further assistance. 

When paying online through the website, It has an option to print the Business License
Online payment receipt. We need a receipt of acknowledgement  showing proof that
you paid your 2023 Business License and Rap fee.

3. You may email me directly once the documentation is corrected.

4. The hearing has been rescheduled to April 12th, 2023. Please find the Amended Notice
of Remote Settlement and Conference attached to this email.

 
Best,
 

Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 
 

 
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Wednesday, March 8, 2023 at 10:04 AM

000060

mailto:BJackson@oaklandca.gov
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:BTWebSupport@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP



Housing and Community Development Department TEL (510) 238-3721 
Rent Adjustment Program FAX (510) 238-6181 
250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 CA Relay 711 
Oakland, CA 94612-2034 www.Oaklandca.gov/RAP 


AMENDED NOTICE OF REMOTE SETTLEMENT CONFERENCE AND HEARING 


File Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC
Property Address: 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621
Case Number: T23-0019 


Please take notice that in order to protect the health and welfare of the parties and City of 
Oakland employees, the Settlement Conference and Hearing will be held remotely, by audio or 
videoconferencing. 


The Settlement Conference and/or Hearing (if there is no settlement conference) will begin on: 


Date: 
Time: 
Place: 


April 12, 2023 
10:00 AM 
REMOTELY 


Settlement Conference 


The Hearing Officer will conduct a Settlement Conference to attempt to resolve this matter unless the 
owner is seeking an exemption or if not all parties are present. If the Settlement Conference is not 
successful, the Hearing will begin immediately after the Settlement Conference. 


Remote Hearings 


In the next few weeks, the program analyst assigned to your case will contact you by telephone or 
email to determine whether you have access to a computer or a phone with video technology and 
either cellular service or hi-speed internet, so that the Hearing could be conducted using 
videoconferencing through Zoom, a free videoconferencing application. If you do not have access to 
these services or if any party does not have access, the Hearing will be conducted by Zoom as an 
“audio only” Hearing, which allows parties to use a toll-free number on a telephone to participate. 
There is no charge to use Zoom. 


Please be sure that the Rent Adjustment Program has a working email address and telephone 
number for you so that we can contact you when necessary. 


Please note that if you do not have access to any of the necessary technology to be a participant in 
a remote Hearing, please call the analyst on your case (noted below.) 







Order to Produce Evidence/Submission of Additional Documents 


You must submit all additional proposed tangible evidence (including but not limited to documents 
and photographs) you wish to have considered at least seven days before the Hearing Please note 
that you may have been required to submit certain documents with your initial petition. Please number 
sequentially all documents sent to the RAP. If possible, please submit your evidence by email. Please 
note that most smart phones have scanning capability. If you do not have access to scan and email 
your documents you may submit them by mail. (If you are mailing, always send copies and keep the 
originals for yourself.) Please notify the analyst if you have submitted your documents by mail. Black 
out all sensitive information on the documents you submit, like bank or credit card account numbers 
and Social Security numbers. 


Proposed evidence presented late may be excluded from consideration unless there is good cause for 
the late filed evidence. The Hearing Officer can also use the official records of the City of Oakland and 
Alameda County Tax Assessor as evidence if provided by the parties for consideration. 


The analyst in your case is and his/her email address is . Submit all documents by email to the analyst 
in your case and, by mail to the opposing parties. Additionally, you must submit a document to the 
RAP entitled Proof of Service, establishing that you provided the same documents you submitted to the 
RAP to the opposing parties. 


Interpreter 
The Hearing must be conducted in English. The Rent Adjustment Program will provide an interpreter on 
request providing the request is made at least 14 days in advance of the scheduled Hearing, including ASL 
interpreters. If you wish to bring someone to help you understand the proceeding, in addition to the 
official interpreter provided by the RAP, you may, but only the official interpreter’s interpretation will be 
considered as a part of the record. 


Request to Change Date 
A request for a change in the date or time of Settlement Conference and Hearing ("continuance") 
must be made on a form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. The party requesting the 
continuance must try to get an agreement for alternate dates from the opposing parties. If an 
agreement cannot be reached, check the appropriate box on the form. A continuance will be granted 
only for good cause. 


Hearing Record 
The Rent Adjustment Program makes an audio recording of the Hearing. Either party may bring a 
court reporter to record the hearing at their own expense. The Settlement Conference is not recorded. 
If the settlement is reached, the Hearing Officer will draft an Order listing the terms of the agreement. 


Inspections 
During the Hearing, the Hearing Officer may decide to conduct an inspection of the subject unit(s). 
The inspection may be conducted on the same day as the Hearing or scheduled for a later date selected 
by the Hearing Officer or mutually agreed upon by the parties present at the Hearing. No testimony 
will be taken at the inspection. 


-2-







Representatives 
Any party to a Hearing may designate a representative in writing prior to the Settlement Conference 
or on the record at the Hearing. 


Failure to Appear for Hearing 
If the petitioner fails to appear at the Hearing as scheduled, the Hearing Officer may either conduct 
the Hearing and render a decision without the petitioner’s participation, or dismiss the petition. If the 
respondent fails to appear at the Hearing as scheduled, the Hearing Officer may either issue an 
administrative decision without a Hearing, or conduct the Hearing and render a decision without the 
respondent’s participation. 


Accessibility 
To request disability-related accommodations, please email the analyst on your case or call or 
California relay service at 711 at least five working days before the meeting. 


-3-







Zoom Link 


Rent Adjustment Program - Hearings is inviting you to a scheduled Mediation Zoom meeting. 


Topic: T23-0019 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


Time: April 12, 2023 10:00 AM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 


Join Zoom Meeting 


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82525099506?pwd=eVc2aHR4Mm1xN1kzRGgrNWYzU2Fidz09 


Meeting ID: 825 2509 9506 


Passcode: 187712 


One tap mobile 


+16694449171,,82525099506#,,,,*187712# US


+16699009128,,82525099506#,,,,*187712# US (San Jose)


Dial by your location 


+1 669 444 9171 US


+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)


+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)


+1 719 359 4580 US


+1 253 205 0468 US


+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)


+1 646 558 8656 US (New York)


+1 646 931 3860 US


+1 689 278 1000 US


+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)


+1 305 224 1968 US


+1 309 205 3325 US


+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)


+1 360 209 5623 US


+1 386 347 5053 US


+1 507 473 4847 US


+1 564 217 2000 US


Meeting ID: 825 2509 9506 


Passcode: 187712 


Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdBcwsh14s 



https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82525099506?pwd=eVc2aHR4Mm1xN1kzRGgrNWYzU2Fidz09

https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdBcwsh14s









PROOF OF SERVICE 


Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 


I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 


Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 


California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 


California 94612.   


Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 


Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 


Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 


Documents Included 


Amended Notice of Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing     
Zoom Link


Owner 


Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607


Tenant  
Reyes Ornelas 
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621


Tenant 


Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621


I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 


correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 


receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 


Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 


business. 


I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 


and correct. Executed on March 7, 2023 in Oakland, California.
______________________________ 


Brittni Lothlen 


Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 











To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

Hello Brittni, 
Please confirm that these responses were received. We are awaiting your response.
Thank you 
 
On Sun, Mar 5, 2023 at 1:44 PM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

Attached is a screenshot of my bank account indicating proof of payment for the city business tax
at 2031 69th ave. Also the business tax certificate that I previously sent is attached

 
On Sat, Mar 4, 2023 at 11:36 AM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

We mailed the tenant a letter. Whether they received it or not, or act like they did not receive
it, we sent it
 
On Fri, Mar 3, 2023 at 3:46 PM Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com> wrote:

Hi, 
I have a few questions that I wanted to ask for clarification
1. Do I need to submit a new response to the hearings unit, or can I re-submit the previous
one with the info I was missing?
2. The RAP fee is included with the business license tax when paying online through the

000061

mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com


website. Can I just send a screenshot of my bank account (the payment method I used to pay
for the business tax in 2022)? Because there isn't a separate receipt showing the RAP fee of
$101 per unit.
3. Who do I email once all of the documentation is corrected? 
4.Will the hearing remain on March 13th, or will it get postponed because of the incomplete
response?
 
On Fri, Mar 3, 2023 at 2:47 PM Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov> wrote:

Respondent Said:
 
Thank you for your email.
 
Your email correspondence has been saved to the case file and forwarded to the assigned
hearing officer.
 
Please note there are no amendments allowed to a property owners response.

Additionally, your property owner response received on February 1st, 2023 remains
incomplete.
 
Please find a copy of the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response that was mailed
from our office on February 28, 2023, attached to this email.
 
Best regards,
 
 
Brittni Lothlen
Rent Adjustment Program Assistant
City of Oakland
Department of Housing and Community Development
Rent Adjustment Program
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313
Oakland, CA  94612
Blothlen@oaklandca.gov             
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
 
 

From: Ahmed Said <ahmedmead@gmail.com>
Date: Friday, March 3, 2023 at 9:52 AM
To: Lothlen, Brittni <BLothlen@oaklandca.gov>
Subject: Case No. T23-0019 Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC

[EXTERNAL] This email originated outside of the City of Oakland. Please do not click links

000062

mailto:BLothlen@oaklandca.gov
mailto:Blothlen@oaklandca.gov
http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
mailto:ahmedmead@gmail.com
mailto:BLothlen@oaklandca.gov


or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and expect the message.

Greetings, 
The following message is an addition to the response we previously submitted on January
31st. The reason why the rent was $1,300 is because Reyes Ornelas and I had a verbal
agreement for him to pull out the garbage bins every Monday for all 6 units, and to keep
the front and backyard clean. For this purpose, he received discounted rent. When the
service was no longer being provided as agreed upon, we wrote to all tenants informing
them to pull out their own garbage bins, and that we'd clean around the property. Also,
the tenant (Maria and Reyes) grew frustrated because we provided them a storage room
for free, and they had electricity attached (an extra refrigerator) attached to our house
meter, so we notified them through text that we were going to need that area to expand
the laundry room for all tenants, in which we did. We gave them a proper 60 day notice
beforehand for the rent increase. Additionally, they also had 7 people living in the unit
which cost us more water, but we never complained. Lastly, 10% of any upgrades to a
building is supposed to be passed on to the tenants as we put in a brand new roof, and
provided them with a new balcony door. Therefore, we increased the rent with fairness.
Feel free to contact me if there are any questions
Thank you
 

000063



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 

CASE NUMBER    T23-0019 
 
CASE NAME:    Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:  2031 69th Avenue, Unit C  
       Oakland, CA 
 
PARTIES:     Maria Barragan, Tenant 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DECISION 

 
The Tenant’s Petition is granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
Reason for Administrative decision: An Administrative Decision is issued 
without a hearing. The purpose of a hearing is to allow the parties to present 
testimony and other evidence to allow the resolution of disputes of material fact. 
However, in this case, sufficient uncontested facts have been presented to issue a 
decision without a hearing, and no material facts are disputed. Therefore, an 
administrative decision, without a hearing, is being issued.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
On January 23, 2023, the Tenant filed the petition herein. The petition contests rent 
increases alleged from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, effective December 1, 2019, and 
from $1,300.00 to $1,500.00, effective December 2022, on the grounds that the 
rent increase exceeds the legally allowable amount. 

000064



2 | P a g e  
 

The petition, completed under penalty of perjury, indicates that that Tenant was 
never given a RAP Notice,1 including with the Notices of Rent Increase 
challenged. 
 
The Owner filed an Owner Response on February 1, 2023.  A Notice of 
Incomplete Owner Response was sent to the Respondent on February 28, 2023.2 
The Respondent was given 35 days to file the necessary documents and a proof of 
service of their petition. To date, no new documents were filed, no proof of service 
was filed, and the response was not completed.  Therefore, the response cannot be 
considered filed and complete. Accordingly, any documentation submitted with the 
response is inadmissible.3  
 

RATIONALE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 
2019 Rent Increase 
 
The Rent Adjustment Ordinance (Ordinance) requires an owner to serve a RAP 
Notice at the start of a tenancy4 and with any notice of rent increase or change in 
any term of the tenancy.5   An owner may cure the failure to give notice at the start 
of the tenancy. However, a notice of rent increase is not valid if the effective date 
of increase is less than six months after the Tenant first receives the required RAP 
notice.6 
 
It is undisputed that the Tenant moved into the subject unit in 2013. The petition 
was filed under penalty of perjury and states that the Tenant was not given a RAP 
Notice including with the Notices of Rent Increase challenged.  Accordingly, there 
is no evidence that the Tenant received the RAP Notice at the inception of the 
tenancy or with the rent increases challenged.  Therefore, it is found that the 
Tenant has not been provided with a RAP Notice. Accordingly, the Notice of Rent 
Increase from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, is invalid. Accordingly, the legal rent for the 
subject unit remained at $1,000.00. 
 
2022 Rent Increase 
 
Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 CMS, adopted on March 27, 2020, states 
as follows at Section 4:  

 
1 Notice to Tenants of the Residential Rent Adjustment Program. 
2 O.M.C. Section 8.22.090(B) 
3 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070(C). Santiago v. Vega, Case 
4 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060. 
5 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070. 
6 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060(C) 

000065



3 | P a g e  
 

 
Rent Increase Moratorium.  
For rental units regulated by Oakland Municipal Code 
8.22.010 et seq, any notice of rent increase in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment, as defined in Oakland Municipal 
Code Section 8.22.020, shall be void and unenforceable if 
the notice is served or has an effective date during the Local 
Emergency, unless required to provide a fair return. Any 
notice of rent increase served during the Local Emergency 
shall include the following statement in bold underlined 12-
point font: “During the Local Emergency declared by 
the City of Oakland in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of 
the CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), 
unless required for the landlord to obtain a fair return. 
You may contact the Rent Adjustment Program at 
(510.) 238—37.21 for additional information and 
referrals.” 

 
When the Rent Increase Moratorium was enacted, the CPI Rent Adjustment was 3-
5%. The Moratorium clearly states that this CPI is in effect “until June 30, 2020.” 
As of July 1, 2022, the CPI Rent Adjustment is 3%. The Local Emergency remains 
in the City of Oakland. Therefore, increasing the Tenant’s base rent above 3%, or 
$30.00, violates the Moratorium. Therefore, the Owner’s Notice of Rent Increase 
of $200.00 is invalid.  Additionally, the Notice of Rent Increase did not include the 
required statement in bold, underlined 12-point font, and is likewise on this basis 
invalid as well.   
 
Notwithstanding, whether the Tenant was served the RAP Notice with the 2022 
Rent Increase, the increase would still be invalid since the amount of the increase 
violated the Moratorium.  Accordingly, the legal rent for the subject unit remained 
at $1,000.00. 
 

ORDER 

 
1. Petition T23-0019 is granted. 
 
2. The legal rent for the subject unit remains $1,000.00. 

 

000066



4 | P a g e

3. The 2019 and 2022 rent increases are not valid.  The legal rent for the
subject unit remains at $1,000.00.  If the Tenant paid an amount over the legal rent
for the subject unit, the parties are instructed to calculate the total rent
overpayment and deduct the credit amount in thirty or fewer monthly installments
from the Tenant’s monthly rent after this decision becomes final.  The decision
becomes final if no party files an appeal within 20 days after the decision is mailed
to the parties.

4. The Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing, scheduled for April 12,
2023, is canceled.

Right to Appeal:  This decision is the final decision of the Rent Adjustment 
Program Staff. Either party may appeal this decision by filing a properly 
completed appeal using the form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. 
The appeal must be received within seventeen (17) calendar days of electronic 
service or twenty (20) days if served by first-class mail. If the last day to file is a 
weekend or holiday, the appeal may be filed on the next business day. The date and 
service method are shown on the attached Proof of Service.   

Dated:  April 5, 2023 Élan Consuella Lambert 
Hearing Officer 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000067



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Administrative Decision

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

e e  Ornela  
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on Apirl 6, 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000068



000069



000070



000071



000072



000073



000074



000075



000076



000077



000078



000079



000080



000081



000082



000083



000084



000085



000086



000087



000088



000089



000090



000091



000092



000093



000094



000095



000096



000097



000098



 

1 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Gregory T. Ching (SBN 330719) 
gching@centrolegal.org 
CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
3400 E. 12th Street 
Oakland, CA  94601 
Telephone:  (510) 437-1554 
Facsimile:    (510) 255-6069 
 
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan 
 
 

OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
 

 
BARRAGAN, ET AL., 
 
  Tenant-Respondent, 
 
 vs. 
 
MEAD HOLDING LLC, 
 
  Property Owner-Appellant. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No.: T23-0019 
 
TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA 
BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
 
 
 
 

 

Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan hereby submits this brief in response to Appellant 

Mead Holding LLC’s appeal brief. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In notices dated September 12, 2019, and December 1, 2019, Tenant-Respondent Maria 

Barragan (“Tenant”) received a rent increase from Appellant Ahmed Said (doing business as 

Mead Holding LLC) (“Owner”), which imposed an increase from $1,000.00 per month to 

$1,300.00 per month (the “2019 Rent Increase”). On September 24, 2022, Tenant received 

another rent increase notice from Owner, raising Tenant’s rent from $1,300 per month to 

$1,500 per month (the “2022 Rent Increase”). Tenant has paid the corresponding demanded 

amounts for both the 2019 and 2022 Rent Increases, as demonstrated in the Tenant Evidence 

Submission in this action. Neither the 2019 Rent Increase nor the 2022 Rent Increase included 

proper notice, and both were in excess of the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment. 

000099



 

2 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Upon learning of the illegality of the rent increases, Tenant timely filed a Tenant 

Petition in the above-captioned action. Tenant served on Owner and timely filed with the Rent 

Adjustment Program the Tenant Evidence Submission on February 28, 2023. The Tenant 

Evidence Submission included copies of the 2019 Rent Increase Notice, the 2022 Rent Increase 

Notice, Tenant rent payment receipts, and signed correspondence from Owner. 

Owner filed two separate Owner Responses in this action prior to this appeal. The first 

submitted response was dated January 31, 2023. Analyst Brittni Lothlen sent a Notice of 

Incomplete Owner Response to Owner and to all affected Parties to this action on February 28, 

2023, noting that Owner did not provide proper proof of service, proof of payment of the 

Business License Tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. Owner filed a second Response, 

with proof of service dated March 31, 2023. 

On April 5, 2023, Hearing Officer Elan Consuella Lambert issued a decision granting 

the Tenant Petition. In coming to her decision, the Hearing Officer noted that there was no 

evidence that Tenant received the required RAP Notice either at the inception of her tenancy or 

with the 2019 Rent Increase. The Hearing Officer also noted that the 2022 Rent Increase did 

not abide by the requirements of Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 C.M.S. (the “Oakland 

Moratorium” or “Rent Increase Moratorium”) because the 2022 Rent Increase Notice imposed 

an increase in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment of 3%, and because the Notice did 

not include the required moratorium statement. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Owner has asserted a number of arguments that misunderstand the requirements for rent 

increases under the Oakland Municipal Code. Owner mischaracterizes the nature of the 2019 

Rent Increase, and premises such mischaracterization on false allegations. Owner also attempts 

to confuse the issues by raising arguments and allegations for the first time that should have 

been raised in Owner’s Responses and not on Appeal. These arguments and allegations go 

beyond the scope of the Petition and this Appeal. 

/ / / 

000100



 

3 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. Owner Was Not Denied a Sufficient Opportunity to Be Heard  

Owner argues that the decision was issued without giving Owner a sufficient 

opportunity to be heard. This argument is premised on an incorrect understanding of the law. 

First, Owner was not denied a sufficient opportunity to be heard because Owner had 

sufficient time to file an Owner Response and assert any defenses he may have had at that time. 

In fact, Owner filed two (2) separate Owner Responses: the first, on January 31, 2023; and, 

after receiving the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response, a second on March 31, 2023. Owner 

had over 60 days to present counterarguments, as the Tenant Petition was filed on January 20, 

2023. A property owner’s filed response to a tenant petition will be considered by the hearing 

officer. Owner’s two filed Owner Responses constitute an opportunity to be heard. The fact that 

Owner is unhappy that his two Responses were insufficient to defend against Tenant’s 

meritorious claims, and that the Hearing Officer held that the Petition could be decided by 

Administrative Decision, does not constitute a denial of a sufficient opportunity to be heard. 

Owner was heard through his Responses. 

Second, a hearing is not required in all RAP cases. The Oakland Municipal Code 

empowers Hearing Officers with the authority to issue a decision without a hearing. Oakland 

Mun. Code § 8.22.110(F). A Hearing Officer may issue such an administrative decision where, 

among other things: the petition or response forms have not been properly completed or 

submitted; the petition or response forms have not been filed in a timely manner; the required 

prerequisites to filing a petition or response have not been met; or when, “[t]he petition and 

response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material fact, and the petition may be decided 

as a matter of law.” Id.: Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Mun. Regulations, § 8.22.110(G). 

In this case, Owner did not properly complete the Owner Response initially, did not file the 

second Response in a timely manner, did not include the required prerequisites to filing an 

Owner Response, and most importantly, failed to raise a genuine dispute as to any material fact, 

for all of the reasons that will be discussed below. As a result, the Hearing Officer was well 

within her authority to issue a decision without a hearing. 

000101



 

4 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Furthermore, the Rent Adjustment Program generally falls within those requirements of 

California civil law. There are a variety of well-established legal principles that allow a judge 

or fact finder to reach a decision without a hearing, and some even without evidence. Examples 

include decisions on motions for judgment on the pleadings, motions for summary judgment, 

and motions for summary adjudication. See, e.g., Cal. Code Civ. P. §§ 438, 437c. Merely filing 

a Response, especially one that fails to raise any genuine dispute over any material fact, does 

not guarantee either a tenant or a property owner a hearing. The Hearing Officer’s 

Administrative Decision does not constitute a denial of Owner’s opportunity to be heard. 

B. The 2022 Rent Increase 

The 2022 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and properly invalidated by 

the Hearing Officer. The 2022 Rent Increase, which required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,300 per month to $1,500 per month, did not meet multiple requirements 

under the Oakland Municipal Code. 

First, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include a RAP Notice, which is required 

under Oakland law. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Tenant provided sufficient evidence to 

the Hearing Officer to demonstrate this deficiency. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Owner does not dispute this fact, and has not disputed this deficiency in either the first Owner 

Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response, or in Owner’s Appeal. As such, the 2022 

Rent Increase Notice is invalid. 

Second, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include the rent increase moratorium 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font as required by the Oakland Moratorium. See id. 

Owner contends that “According to page 3 of the Proof of Service from the tenant [sic], it is 

stated that the notice of rent increase is not in bold, or 12 point font, which is false. We 

specifically bolded the notice of rent increase statement, and used 12 point font on both letters.” 

See Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner misunderstands the Administrative Decision and the Oakland 

Moratorium. Under the Oakland Moratorium, Owner is required to provide the following 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font: 

000102



 

5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

“During the Local Emergency declared by the City of Oakland in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), unless required for the 
landlord to obtain a fair return. You may contact the Rent Adjustment 
Program at (510) 238-3721 [sic] for additional information and referrals.” 

Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Owner did not include this statement in the 2022 Rent Increase. 

Instead, the only text that were provided in bolded font were “Notice of Rent Increase,” 

“Address,” and “Mead Holding LLC” letterhead. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Third, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice provided for a $200 increase, which equates to an 

increase of over 15%. Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. This is well above the 3% CPI 

Rent Adjustment allowed by the City of Oakland for the relevant time period. 

Fourth, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice stated that the increase was justified “due to high 

inflation rates that include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as 

maintenance in addition to other factors.” See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. Owner 

confirms such rationale in the Owner Appeal, stating that Tenant’s rent “would be increased 

from $1,300 to $1,500 due to increased operating expenses.” See Owner Appeal, p. 5. Owner 

argues that such an increase is justifiable, as the Oakland Municipal Code allows rent increases 

to exceed the CPI Rent Adjustment. Id. The Oakland Moratorium, however, prohibits rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment on the basis of increased operating expenses 

during the Local Emergency. Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Further analysis of Owner’s 

misinterpretation of rent increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment is discussed in Section 

D, infra. 

For the foregoing reasons, the 2022 Rent Increase was properly found invalid. 

C. The 2019 Rent Increase 

The 2019 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and was properly held by the 

Hearing Officer to be invalid. The 2019 Rent Increase required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per month, in excess of the allowable CPI Rent 

Adjustment; the rent increase did not meet requirements under the Oakland Municipal Code; 

and the rent increase was not a rent set back. 

000103



 

6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 1. The 2019 Rent Increase Did Not Include the RAP Notice 

It is undisputed that the 2019 Rent Increase did not include the legally required RAP 

Notice. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Owner provided only the rent increase 

notice, itself, along with a printout from the Rent Adjustment Program website. Tenant has 

provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate this deficiency. Owner does not dispute the fact 

that no RAP notice was included with the 2019 Rent Increase, and has not disputed this fact in 

either the Owner Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response; or in the Owner Appeal. 

In his Appeal filing, Owner states, “At the inception of their tenancy, we provided the 

tenants with a RAP notice. The tenants claiming that they were not able to retain the notice that 

was provided to them may be due to the fact that they moved in 10 years ago.” This statement 

is problematic for several reasons. 

First, the allegation that Owner provided Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of 

their tenancy is false. Tenant has stated in her Petition, under penalty of perjury, that she was 

never provided with a RAP Notice. See Tenant Petition, T23-0019. Tenant has not wavered 

from this assertion. Owner, on the other hand, has repeatedly changed his story, and has 

provided no evidence to support his false statement at any stage of this case. In the Owner 

Response dated January 31, 2023, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the 

box stating: “I have never provided a RAP Notice.” See Owner Response (Jan. 31, 2023). In the 

second Owner Response, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the box 

stating: “I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided.” See Owner Response (Mar. 31, 

2023). Owner now claims to have provided a RAP Notice at the inception of Tenant’s tenancy, 

contradicting Owner’s prior assertions and without providing any evidence to support his 

claim. Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner has contradicted himself, under oath, and has not provided 

any evidence to support this claim. Accordingly, the Hearing Officer correctly found that 

Tenant was not given a RAP Notice at the beginning of her tenancy.  

Second, Owner misunderstands the notice requirement. While a RAP Notice is required 

to be provided at the inception of a tenancy, a RAP Notice is also required to be provided with 

000104



 

7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

each rent increase notice. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Even if Owner had provided 

Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of her tenancy, Owner would still be required to 

provide additional RAP Notices concurrently with rent increase notices. Owner did not provide 

the required RAP Notice with the 2019 Rent Increase and has not disputed this fact. Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Tenant has provided sufficient evidence for the Hearing Officer 

to find that Owner failed in his duty to provide the required notice. 

 2. The Increase Amount Exceeded That Allowed by Law 

The 2019 Rent Increase imposed an increase from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per 

month, which equates to an increase of 30%. This rent increase is illegal on its face. The 2019 

CPI Rent Adjustment was 3.5%. Moreover, the Oakland Municipal Code restricts rent 

increases based on CPI Rent Adjustments to no more than 10% in any 12-month period, and no 

more than 30% over any period of five years. § 8.22.070(A)(2)-(3). A rent increase of 30% is 

clearly improper, and the 2019 Rent Increase was correctly held to be invalid. 

 3. The 2019 Rent Increase was an Increase and Not a Set Back 

Owner’s contention that the 2019 Rent Increase should be considered a rent “set back” 

is without merit. Tenant denies Owner’s account of an agreement of services in exchange for a 

rent reduction. Owner did not raise this issue in either of his two Owner Responses, and has 

provided no evidence to support such an allegation. In fact, Owner, himself, contradicts this 

characterization of the rent increase in the actual 2019 Rent Increase Notice. 

In his Appeal, Owner provides that “the tenants and I had an agreement when they first 

moved in that the monthly rent would be $1,300, but if they were to pull out the garbage bins 

every Monday for all 6 units, and keep the front and backyard clean, then they would pay 

$1,000.” Owner Appeal, p. 2. Owner states that such agreement was “verbal.” Id. at p. 3. 

Tenant denies the existence of such an agreement. Tenant’s rental rate when she moved 

into the property in 2013 was $1,000 per month. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental 

rate from $1,300 to $1,000 per month in exchange for services to Owner or at the subject 

property. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental rate in exchange for services to Owner or 

000105



 

8 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

at the subject property, either verbally or in writing. Owner has provided no evidence to 

support his claim that such an agreement existed, and Owner did not raise this argument at the 

proper time: in his Owner Response to the Tenant Petition. 

Owner also states that: “In 2019, we provided the tenants with a 60 day notice that the 

rent would return to its original amount of $1,300 because they were no longer providing their 

services.” See Owner Appeal, p. 3, ¶ 2. The 2019 Rent Increase Notice, however, includes no 

such language about the alleged services. Instead, the 2019 Rent Increase Notice states: “The 

rental increases will be applied due to high inflation rates that include the increase of property 

and city tax, water, garbage, and other maintenance in addition to many other factors.” Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2 (emphasis added). The 2019 Rent Increase Notice does not 

include any mention of services, of an agreement, or of a set back. Moreover, the 2019 Rent 

Increase Notice uses almost the exact same language that Owner used in the 2022 Rent 

Increase. See id. at Exh. T1 (“The increase in rent will be applied due to high inflation rates that 

include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as maintenance in addition to 

other factors”). Owner is attempting to characterize the 2019 Rent Increase as a rent set back, 

however all evidence demonstrates that the 2019 Rent Increase was merely an unlawful rent 

increase. 

Owner further contradicts his set back argument, stating in the 2019 Rent Increase 

Notice, “Please take into consideration that rent has been $1,000 for the past 10+ years with no 

increases. The California State Law allows property owners to defer applying annual rent 

increases for up to 10 years.” Id. at Exh. T2 (emphasis added). Owner was clearly attempting to 

bank multiple years’ worth of rent increases into a single, illegal rent increase. The fact that 

Owner could have increased rent lawfully during that time period does not allow Owner to do 

so illegally by increasing Tenant’s rent by an unlawful amount and without proper notice. 

Owner is either being misleading, or mischaracterizing the 2019 Rent Increase by asserting that 

it was based on a set back rather than what it actually was: an illegal rent increase. 

000106



 

9 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. Owner Is Not Allowed to Implement Rent Increases Over CPI and Banking 

Without Following Proper Procedure 

Owner contends that he should be allowed to increase rent beyond CPI for a number of 

ill-defined reasons. Owner reasons that “Capital improvements to a building shall be passed on 

to the tenant as a prorated charge. A landlord is able to increase the rent due to capital 

improvements to the building.” Owner Appeal, p. 2-3, ¶ 6. Owner later states that “[R]ent 

increases that exceed the CPI increase may be justified” for a series of reasons. Id. p. 5. Yet 

again, Owner misunderstands legal rent increases allowed under the Oakland Municipal Code 

and the Oakland Moratorium. 

The Oakland Municipal Code does allow for property owners to increase rent by an 

amount in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment for reasons including capital improvements, 

uninsured repair costs, and increased housing costs. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(C). A 

property owner who seeks an increase based on any ground other than the CPI Rent 

Adjustment or Banking, however, “must first petition the Rent Program and receive approval 

for the Rent Increase before the Rent Increase can be imposed.” Id. Property owners “may 

increase rents only for increases based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking, or by filing a 

petition to increase rent in excess of that amount.” Id. at § 8.22.065(A). While a property owner 

is not prohibited from increasing a tenant’s rent in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment, 

the property owner must follow proper procedures in order to do so. “Any rent increase not 

based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking that is not first approved by the Rent Adjustment 

Program is void and unenforceable.” Id. 

Furthermore, the Oakland Moratorium specifically prevents almost all types of rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment. See Oakland Moratorium, § 4 (“[A]ny rent 

increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment . . . shall be void and unenforceable if the notice 

is served or has an effective date during the Local Emergency, unless required to provide a fair 

return.”). 

000107



 

10 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

In the present case, Owner did not file a petition with the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner did not receive approval from 

the Rent Adjustment Program to impose a rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment 

before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner instead took it upon himself to increase 

Tenant’s rent by an unconscionable amount on two separate occasions without following 

established and legally required procedures. 

E. Owner’s Appeal Includes Allegations and Arguments That Lie Beyond the 

Scope of the Underlying Petition and this Appeal 

Matters on appeal are limited in their scope. The Rent Adjustment Program Regulations 

contain an enumerated list of grounds for appeal. See, e.g., Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

Regulations; Oakland Municipal Code § 8.22.120. As a general rule, Appeals should not 

conduct evidentiary hearings or consider the introduction of new evidence. See Oakland Rent 

Adjustment Program Regulations. 

Here, Owner attempts to include a number of arguments and accompanying evidence 

that lie well beyond the scope of the underlying Petition, and bear no relevance to this case. 

Specifically, the following allegations are irrelevant with regard to whether or not the 2019 and 

2022 Rent Increases were proper and legal: whether or not Owner requested that tenants at the 

property pull out their own garbage bins, whether or not Owner decided to begin cleaning 

around the property, whether or not Tenant had an extra refrigerator, the number of persons 

living within the subject property, whether or not a fire department violation occurred, and 

whether or not Tenant’s family used multiple parking spaces. Owner Appeal, p. 2, ¶¶ 1-5. 

Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s allegations. 

Additionally, Owner’s table of Increased Housing Service Costs is similarly irrelevant 

for the purposes of this appeal. The issue of whether or not Owner incurred increased costs falls 

outside of the scope of the Tenant Petition and of this Appeal. Furthermore, Owner has 

provided no evidence to support his claim that he incurred increased housing costs aside from 

000108



 

11 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

the table, itself. Owner Appeal, p. 4. Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s 

contention regarding increased housing costs. 

Owner did not raise these allegations or arguments in either of his two Owner 

Responses, and they should not be considered in, and are not relevant to, this Appeal. 

F. Owner’s Allegation of Fraud Is False and Improper 

Tenant included in her Tenant Evidence Submission a letter, dated July 5, 2022 and 

signed by Owner. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T4. The purpose of including the 

letter in the Tenant Evidence Submission was to provide further evidence that Tenant was 

current on her rental payments. 

In his Owner Appeal, Owner alleges that Tenant “fraudulently used immigration as an 

excuse to receive a recommendation letter from me, that is now being used against me.” Owner 

Appeal, p. 5. 

Tenant denies defrauding Owner. Tenant did not request the letter for any purposes 

other than those that Tenant made Owner aware of at the time of her request. Tenant was 

truthful in her request, and has been honest and consistent throughout the entirety of this action. 

Unless Owner is admitting to having committed fraud by lying in his letter, no fraud occurred. 

Tenant reserves the right to pursue Owner on any and all claims related to Owner’s baseless 

allegation of fraud. 

G. The April 12, 2023 Hearing Was Not Canceled Without Proper Notice 

Owner contends that the Hearing for the underlying Petition was “canceled without 

proper notice.” Owner Appeal, p. 5. As discussed in Section A, supra, the Hearing Officer did 

not act improperly in issuing a ruling by Administrative Decision. The cancelation of the 

Hearing was properly noticed in the Hearing Officer’s decision, served on the Parties on April 

6, 2023, by Analyst Brittni Lothlen. See T23-0019 Administrative Decision, p. 4, ¶ 4. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appeals Board should find affirm the Hearing 

Officer’s decision to grant the Tenant Petition. 

000109



12 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: May 2, 2023 CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 

By: 
Gregory T. Ching
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan

000110



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: 

TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT 
OF TENANT PETITION IN
  PETITION CASE NO.:T23-0019    _______________________
(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as
listed below.

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with
some person not younger than 18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 
Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

X

    0

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St. Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

   (12 pages)

000111

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000112



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on _ / /  (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

  

Israel Lepiz

05/02/23

000113



05/24/2023 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC

Att: Hearing of Appeal

Case Number: T23-0019

Notice of Appeal
I, the appealing party, would like to present to you why the appeal should be granted.

We are challenging the decision made by the rent board because at the inception of

their tenancy [2012], we agreed that the rent would be $1,300. However, we verbally

agreed that if they were to pull out all 6 garbage bins for weekly garbage pick up, keep

the front and backyards clean, and have the storage room, then they would pay $1,000

ONLY if they were able to hold up their end of the agreement.

1. Tenants built an extra structure without landlord approval, and the fire department

sent the landlord a notice of violation because the structure was unpermitted. We

were fined, and I, as the landlord, had to pay, and remove the structure.

2. We provided them with a free storage room, but they DID NOT notify us that they

would plug in refrigerators, and other equipment to the house meter using

extension cords [big fire hazard].

Also, the tenants exceeded the agreed occupancy of 5 people for a 2 bedroom

unit, as they had up to 7 people living in the unit. We never complained when

PG&E and EBMUD rates increased.

3. Each unit has ONE parking spot allocated to them for their use, but have

continued to park their vehicles in prohibited areas around the building.

4. We have made capital improvements to the building, and specifically their unit

such as: New roof, New windows, New balcony door, and other improvements to

ensure that our tenants have the best living space possible. These improvements

cost us over $40,000.

000114



According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

5. All in all, the rent was not increased for 7 years [2012 - 2018]. In 2019, the rent

was not increased, rather it was set back to its original amount because their

services were no longer provided. We gave the tenants a 60 day written notice

notifying them that their rent payable would be set back the amount that was

agreed upon initially, $1,300.

According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

Closing Statement: San Francisco, and Oakland always favor the tenants. We’re

asking since you are the judge and mediator of this hearing to PLEASE BE FAIR. When

we increased the rent, we increased fairly, not by thousands of dollars, or an

unreasonable amount. We ask that you please take our argument into consideration

and reason with us because living costs continue to increase, and the pandemic was an

uphill battle as mortgages and taxes were still due on a month to month basis, but

tenants were given the opportunity to withhold rent. Ultimately, we are very fair landlords

000115



to our tenants as they have been renting from us for over 10 years now, otherwise they

would not be paying $1,500 per month for a 2 bedroom with parking, and free water

(EBMUD).

000116



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     September 8, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney   

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. 
Mead Holding LLC 

                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       September 14, 2023  
 

Property Address:   2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621 

Appellant/Owner:  Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC 
 
Respondent/Tenants:  Maria Barragan, Reyes Ornelas 
     

BACKGROUND 

 On January 23, 2023, tenants Maria Barragan and Reyes Ornelas filed a Tenant 

Petition contesting the following two rent increases: 

• $1,000 to $1,300, effective December 2019 

• $1,300 to $1,500, effective December 2022 

The Petition indicated that the tenants had never received a copy of the RAP Notice, 

either at the beginning of their tenancy or with either increase. The tenants submitted 22 

pages of documentation in support of their Petition, including copies of the rent increase 

notices and proof of rent payment. 

 On February 1, 2023, owner Ahmed Said of Mead Holding LLC filed a response 

to the Tenant Petition, but did not allege any defenses in the response form. The owner 

attached a copy of a business license (which was expired), but did not include any 

evidence that the owner had paid the RAP service fee. The owner also indicated on the 

response form that the owner had never provided the tenants with a copy of the RAP 

Notice.  



2 
 

 On February 28, 2023, RAP staff mailed the owner a Notice of Incomplete Owner 

Response, indicating that the owner was missing a proof of service, proof of payment of 

the business license tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. The Notice indicated 

that the owner had 30 days to submit a completed response.  

 On March 3, 2023, the owner submitted an email to RAP that contained 

additional narrative in support of the owner’s response. RAP responded the same day 

and again informed the owner of the incomplete response. RAP sent the owner another 

email on March 8, 2023, again instructing the owner to resubmit the response with the 

missing information.  

RULING ON THE CASE 

 On April 5, 2023, hearing officer Élan Consuella Lambert issued an 

Administrative Decision, granting the Tenant Petition without a hearing. As of the date of 

the Decision, the owner had not submitted any of the required additional documentation, 

and therefore the owner’s response remained incomplete. Any documentation 

submitted by the owner was therefore deemed inadmissible. On the merits, the rent 

increases were found to be invalid because the tenants never received the required 

RAP Notice, and because the second increase in 2022 was above CPI and did not 

include the notice language required by the Oakland rent increase moratorium. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 On April 18, 2023, the owner filed an appeal of the Administrative Decision on 

the grounds that the owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the 

tenants’ claims. Among other things, the owner alleged that the increase from $1,000 to 

$1,300 was not an increase, but rather the tenants’ initial rent was $1,300 and was 

discounted to $1,000 in exchange for the tenants taking out the garbage and cleaning 

around the property. The owner also alleged increased housing service costs and other 

claims not related to the tenant petition.  

ISSUES 

1. Was the owner denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the tenants’ 

claim?  

2. Does the Administrative Decision err as a matter of law? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Administrative Decisions  

 An administrative decision may be issued when petition or response forms have 
not been properly completed, were untimely, or filing prerequisites have not been met, 



3 
 

where the petition and response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material facts 
and the petition may be decided as a matter of law, or where the property was 
previously issued a certificate of exemption and is not challenged by the tenant. OMC 
8.22.110F.  

II. Owner Filing Requirements   

 In order to file a response to a tenant petition or file a petition seeking a rent 
increase, an owner must submit the following: evidence of possession of a current 
business license, evidence of payment of the RAP fee, evidence of service of the RAP 
notice on covered units, a completed response form, documentation supporting the 
owner’s claim of exemption or justification for the rent increase, and proof of service of 
the response on the tenant. OMC 8.22.090B. Failure to submit a completed response 
may result in the response being dismissed.  

III. Service of RAP Notice 

 Owners are required to serve tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice at the 
beginning of the tenancy and together with any rent increase. Failure to do so renders a 
rent increase invalid. O.M.C. 8.22.060, 8.22.070H, 8.22.090A(1)(c)-(d). 

IV. Rent Increase Moratorium 

 Oakland’s rent increase moratorium, which was in effect as of December 2022, 
limits rent increases to CPI and requires certain language to be included in rent 
increase notices. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision be 
upheld. The owner’s response was incomplete and remained incomplete after the 
owner was provided with notice and 30 days to submit the required documentation. 
Owner filing requirements—and the risk that failure to comply may result in the 
response being dismissed—is indicated in the notice served together with the petition, 
in the response form itself, and in the “Notice of Incomplete Owner Reponse.” The 
owner in this case was also instructed on filing requirements via staff emails on March 3 
and March 8, 2023. The response was incomplete on numerous grounds, which the 
owner failed to correct despite several notices to do so. An Administrative Decision was 
therefore justified, as was disregarding the owner’s evidence.  

 Even if the owner’s response was considered filed, the same result could be 
reached. Both the Tenant Petition and the owner response indicate that the tenants 
were not provided with a RAP Notice. Therefore, failure to provide a RAP Notice is 
undisputed. Additionally, the December 2022 increase from $1,300 to $1,500 exceeds 
the allowable CPI and does not comply with Oakland’s rent increase moratorium. It is 
therefore invalid on its face.  



4 
 

 The owner’s claims of capital improvements and increased housing service costs 
are misguided. In order to impose a rent increase based on capital improvements or 
increased costs, an owner must first file a petition and be granted approval by RAP. 
That was not done in this case. The other claims raised on appeal are irrelevant to the 
issue of whether the challenged rent increases were valid, and the appeal does not 
provide any explanation or justification (i.e. good cause) as to why the owner’s response 
was incomplete.  

 
 


	HRRRB Agenda & Packet- Full Board Special Meeting 9.14.2023.pdf
	Board Agenda 9.14.2023.pdf
	Board Minutes Full Board Special Meeting 8.24.2023.pdf
	T23-0019, Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC_Chron Case Report & Case Docs.pdf
	Tenant Petition.pdf
	Owner Response.pdf
	Tenant Evidence.pdf
	owner.pdf
	Admin Decision.pdf
	Owner Appeal.pdf
	Tenant Respondent Brief.pdf


	Barragan v. Mead Holding- Appeal Recommendation



